Natural antioxidants in prevention and management of Alzheimer's disease

Yan Zhao¹, Baolu Zhao²

¹Department of Food Sciences and Technology, Harbin Institute of Technology at Weihai, 264209, P.R.China,²State Key laboratory of Brain and Cognitive Science, Institute of Biophysics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100101, P.R. China

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Oxidative stress is involved in the pathogenesis of AD
 - 3.1. Oxidative stress in AD
 - 3.2. Abeta toxicity, oxidative stress and mitochondria dysfunction are interlinked
 - 3.3. Oxidative stress enhances Abeta production
- 4. Therapeutic potential of nature antioxidants for AD
 - 4.1. Ginkgo biloba flavonoids
 - 4.2. Soybean isoflavones
 - 4.3. Nicotine
 - 4.4 Theanine
 - 4.5 Other natural antioxidants
- 5. Conclusions and Perspectives
- 6. Acknowledgements
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disease that causes dementia in the elderly. As the aging population increases, the prevalence of AD has increased remarkably worldwide and AD has become one of the leading causes of disability and death among the elderly. A number of drugs have been approved for the treatment of AD; however, they produce only modest benefits and have a wide range of side effects. Therefore, extensive studies are underway to identify effective drugs that are free of undesirable side effects. As accumulating evidences have implicated oxidative stress in the initiation and progression of AD, the potential of using nature antioxidants for prevention and treatment of AD has attracted considerable attention. The present review discusses the involvement of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of AD and the neuroprotective effects of natural antioxidants, such as Ginkgo biloba flavonoids, soybean isoflavones, theanine and nicotine in cell culture and AD transgenic animal models, specifically, their inhibition on Abeta-induced neurotoxicity and the underlined molecular mechanisms.

2. INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disease that causes dementia in the elderly. Patients with AD suffer a gradual deterioration of memory and other cognitive functions, which eventually leads to a complete incapacity and death within 3 to 9 years after diagnosis (1). As the aging population increases, the prevalence of AD has increased remarkably worldwide and is expected to continually rise; it is estimated that there will be 11-16 millions individuals aged 65 and older diagnosed with AD by 2050 in the United States alone (2-5). In fact, this devastating disease has become one of the leading causes of disability and death among the elderly (2-5). The costs of the medical treatments and caregiving for AD patients have caused tremendous financial pressure and emotional stress to the families, and have emerged as a major public health challenge (2, 6-8). Currently, there is no cure for AD, therefore, new and effective strategies for prevention and treatments of AD are urgently needed.

A complicated array of molecular events is involved in the pathogenesis of AD. The major

pathological characteristics of AD are the presence of senile plaques, neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) in the brain and neuronal loss (1, 9). Senile plaques are mainly composed of beta-amyloid peptide (Abeta), which is produced via sequential proteolytic cleavage of the transmembrane amyloid precursor protein (APP) by two membrane-bound proteases, beta-secretase, also known as beta-site APP cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), and gamasecretase, a multiprotein complex consisting of presenilin (PS), which is the catalytic subunit of the gama-secretase, nicastrin (NCT), anterior pharynx defective-1 (APH-1) and presenilin enhancer protein-2 (PEN-2) (1, 9, 10). BACE1 cleaves APP at the N-terminal end, producing a 99 amino acid APP C-terminal fragment, which is further cleaved within the transmembrane domain by gama-secretase, resulting in the release of Abeta peptides (1, 9, 11). Cleavage of APP by a third enzyme, alpha-secretase, precludes the formation of toxic Abeta peptides (12). Increased production and/or decreased clearance of Abeta peptides lead to accumulation of Abeta, which stimulates diverse cell signaling pathways, causing impairment of neuronal synapse, oxidative stress and inflammation, and eventually resulting in synaptic degeneration, neuronal loss and decline in cognitive function (9, 11, 13-16). Several peptides of varying length can be generated from the cleavages by beta and gama-secretases, among them, the 42-amino acid form of Abeta (Abeta42) is more toxic than the more abundantly produced 40-amino acid form of Abeta (Abeta40), possibly because of its faster selfaggregation into oligomers (1, 11, 13). Multiple lines of evidence suggest that soluble Abeta oligomers are the most neurotoxic, whose levels correlate with the severity of the cognitive decline in AD (11, 13). Thus, reduction of Abeta production and oligomerization and/or promotion of Abeta clearance are considered one of the strategies for prevention and treatment of AD (13, 14).

NFT is composed of arrays of paired helical filaments (PHFs) structures, which contain mainly selfaggregated hyperphosphorylated tau, a multifunctional protein involved in microtubule assembly and stabilization (9). In normal brain, phosphorylation of tau is tightly Hyperphosphorylation and abnormal regulated. phosphorylation lead to structural and conformational changes of tau, impairing its binding with tubulin and capacity to promote microtubule assembly, and resulting in its self-aggregation into filaments (17). A number of protein kinases and protein phosphatases have been implicated in the abnormal phosphorylation of tau including glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK-3 beta), cyclin-dependent kinase 5, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), calcium-calmodulin kinase and protein kinase C (18). Abnormal tau deposition correlates with neurodegeneration and cognitive decline, while treatments targeting tau hyperphosphorylation may be a strategy for treating tau-related neurodegeneration (19-21). Growing evidence suggests that Abeta accumulation appears before the tau pathology and that A β aggregates may be one of a cascade of molecular events leading to tau hyperphosphorvaltion and eventually neuronal cell death (22-24).

Aging is a major risk factor for sporadic forms of AD. A widely explored link between aging and neurodegenerative diseases is oxidative stress. Numerous studies have implicated oxidative stress in the initiation and progression of AD and suggested a potential role of nature antioxidants in prevention and treatment of AD (25). The present review discusses the involvement of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of AD and the neuroprotective effects of natural antioxidants, such as *Ginkgo biloba* flavonoids, soybean isoflavones, theanine and nicotine in cell culture and transgenic animal models, particularly, their inhibition on Abeta-induced neurotoxicity and the underlined molecular mechanisms.

3. OXIDATIVE STRESS IS INVOLVED IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF AD

3.1. Oxidative stress in AD

Oxidative stress is the condition resulted from the imbalance between oxidant production and endogenous antioxidant defense system when the generation of oxidants exceeds the scavenging capacity of the antioxidant defense system. During oxidative stress, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) react with proteins, nucleic acids and lipids in the cells and impair their functions, causing progressive cell damages and eventually cell death (26). Brain is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress because of its high metabolic rate, high contents of polyunsaturated fatty acids and transition metals, and relatively low levels of antioxidants. Accumulating evidences have shown that the presence of extensive oxidative stress is a characteristic of AD brain in addition to the established pathology of senile plaques and NFT (25). The increased oxidative stress and free radical generation in AD are based on the following facts: first, protein oxidation, demonstrated by increased levels of protein carbonyls and 3-nitrotyrosine, and markers of oxidative damages to DNA and RNA, such as 8hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8OHdG) and 8hydroxyguanosine, are prominent in AD brains (27-31). Lipid peroxidation products such as malondialdehyde (MDA), 4-hydroxynonenal and F₂-isoprostanes, are also elevated in multiple brain regions and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with AD or mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (32-36). Moreover, the accumulation of the products of free radical damages in AD brains is combined with alterations in antioxidant defenses, in both central nervous system and peripheral tissues (37). Expression of superoxide dismutase (SOD) is abnormally increased within the neuropathological lesions in brains of AD patients, perhaps an adaptive response to the increased oxidative damages in those regions; in contrast, most studies show a reduction in the activities of antioxidant enzymes including SOD and catalase in brains of AD patients (36, 38, 39). The discrepancy between the expression and activities of antioxidant enzymes may reflect a redistribution of antioxidant enzymes in neuropathological lesions or an inactivation of the enzymes due to oxidation (38). Furthermore, in AD and MCI brains, increased oxidative damages to lipids and proteins and decline of glutathione and antioxidant enzyme activities are more localized to the synapses and correlate with the

severity of the disease, suggesting an involvement of oxidative stress in AD-related synaptic loss (40). Interestingly, many of above studies show elevations of oxidative stress in MCI, which is proposed as an intermediate state between normal aging and dementia, indicating that the oxidative stress damage in AD may occur preceding the onset of the disease. These evidences suggest that oxidative stress is one of the earliest alterations that occur in the pathogenesis of AD, and prevention of oxidative damages may be a strategy for delaying the onset and progression of AD.

While oxidative stress has emerged as one of the important factors in AD pathogenesis, the mechanisms by which the redox balance is altered and the sources of free radicals remain elusive. Several mechanisms including mitochondrial dysfunction, Abeta-mediated processes, transition metal accumulation and microglia activation have been proposed to play important roles in the redox imbalance (41), understanding of which may provide new therapeutic targets for AD prevention and intervention.

3.2. Abeta toxicity, oxidative stress and mitochondria dysfunction are interlinked

Oxidative modifications of cellular components can disrupt the integrity of membranes and alter the function of essential proteins, leading to the disruption of ion homeostasis, mitochondria dysfunction, and eventually the activation of apoptotic pathway and neuronal cell death (42). A great deal of research has implicated oxidative stress in Abeta-induced neurotoxicity (43). In vitro experiments using cell models showed that Abeta treatment could increase the levels of hydrogen peroxide and lipid peroxides (44). Consistently, in various AD transgenic mouse models carrying mutants of APP and PS-1, increased hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide production as well as elevated oxidative modifications of proteins and lipids correlated the age-associated Abeta accumulation, further confirming that Abeta promotes oxidative stress In hippocampal neuronal cell cultures, the (45-49). induction of ROS by soluble Abeta oligomers required activation of N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor and was associated with a rapid increase in neuronal calcium levels, suggesting a possible role of soluble Abeta oligomers as proximal neurotoxins and the involvement of oxidative stress in the synaptic impairment and neuronal loss induced by soluble Abeta oligomers (50). Meanwhile, Abeta was found to be localized to mitochondria in AD patients as well as transgenic mice and neuroblastoma cells stably expressing human mutant APP (48, 51). Mitochondrial respiratory chain is a major site of ROS production in the cell (52, 53). In fact, in isolated mitochondria, Abeta could cause oxidative injury to mitochondrial membrane, disrupted lipid polarity and protein mobility, and inhibited key enzymes of mitochondria respiratory chain, leading to increased mitochondrial membrane permeability and cytochrome c release (54, 55). Consistently, data from transgenic mice showed that the presence of Abeta in mitochondria was associated with impaired mitochondrial metabolism and increased mitochondrial ROS production (48). Furthermore, oxidative stress mediated by Abeta

accumulation may result in modification and damages of important cellular components including enzymes critical for antioxidant defense. Manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), a primary antioxidant enzyme protecting mitochondria against superoxide, was found to be a target for nitration and inactivation in a double homozygous knock-in mouse model expressing APP and PS-1 mutants (56). The decreased activity of antioxidant defense enzymes such as MnSOD may further increase ROS levels and compromise mitochondria function, contributing to the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and eventually caspase activation and apoptosis (56).

Abeta has also been shown to alter other cellular mechanisms against oxidative protective stress Uncoupling proteins (UCPs) are a family of mitochondrial anion carrier proteins that are located on the inner mitochondrial membrane with diverse physiological functions (57). It has been demonstrated that UCP-2 and UCP-3 can be activated by ROS or products of lipid peroxidation to diminish proton motive force, reduce mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP production, causing mitochondria uncoupling and decrease of ROS generation from mitochondria (58). Therefore, the expression and activation of UCPs are considered to be a protective mechanism in response to oxidative stress. This protective mechanism appears dysfunctional in AD brains where the expression of UCP-2, 4 and 5 is significantly decreased (59). In SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells overexpressing APP or APP mutant, it was found that the upregulation of UCP2 and UCP4 protein levels in response to the exposure of superoxide was abrogated; although the mechanisms are unclear, the result suggests that Abeta accumulation may lead to irreversible cellular alterations that render the cell more susceptible to oxidative stress Moreover, the UCP2 and UCP4-dependent (60). upregulation of mitochondrial free calcium in response to superoxide treatment was found to be diminished in cells overexpressing APP or APP mutant, indicating that the Abeta accumulation may be associated with a dysfunction of mitochondria as reserve pool of intracellular calcium which leads to an increased cell sensitivity to the loss of calcium homeostasis (60). Taken together, Abeta toxicity, oxidative stress and mitochondria dysfunction appear to be interlinked in the pathogenesis of AD.

3.3. Oxidative stress enhances Abeta production

In addition to mediating Abeta-induced cytotoxity, numerous studies have implicated oxidative stress in the increased Abeta production in AD. It was demonstrated that defects in antioxidant defense system caused elevated oxidative stress and significantly increased Abeta deposition in transgenic mice overexpressing APP mutant (61, 62), while dietary antioxidants such as curcumin lowered the elevation of oxidized proteins and decreased brain Abeta levels and Abeta plaque burden (63). Moreover, the increased Abeta deposition and its associated earlier onset and more severe cognitive dysfunction induced by the defect in antioxidant supplementation (62). In line with these findings, it was recently reported that overexpression of MnSOD in transgenic mice

overexpressing APP mutant decreased protein oxidation and increased antioxidant defense capability in brains while reduced Abeta plaque burden and restored the memory deficit (64). These evidences suggest that the enhancement of Abeta production/plaque formation by oxidative stress is important for the initiation and development of AD.

Studies on how oxidative stress enhances Abeta production have pointed to a direct relationship between oxidative stress and activation of BACE and gamasecretase, enzymes critical for generation of Abeta from APP (65-68). Moreover, it was found that the induction of BACE1 and PS1 expression and the activation of gamasecretase by oxidative stress was dependent on the activation of *c-iun* N-terminal kinase (JNK)/c-iun pathway. a major cell signaling cascade that is stimulated by oxidative stress (69, 70). In fact, the promoter and 5'untranslated region of BACE gene contain binding sites for multiple transcription factors including the redox-sensitive activator protein (AP)1 and nuclear factor (NF)-kappa B, activation of which by oxidative stress may in turn enhances BACE expression (71). In AD brains, both the activation of JNK signaling cascade (72-74) and the elevation of BACE1 and PS1 expression/activity have been detected (75-77), thus it is possible that the increased oxidative stress in AD brain may initiate the activation of a cascade of redox-sensitive cell signal pathways including JNK, which promotes the expression of BACE1 and PS1, eventually enhancing the production of Abeta and deterioration of cognitive function. As JNK has also been implicated in Abeta-induced neuronal apoptosis (78), pharmacological inhibition of the redox-sensitive signaling pathways such as JNK may reduce Abeta accumulation as well as inhibit neuronal apoptosis (78).

In summary, evidences have demonstrated that the accumulation of Abeta promotes oxidative stress, which mediates Abeta-induced neurotoxicity and further enhances Abeta production, forming a vicious cycle in AD pathogenesis. Regardless a primary or secondary event, oxidative stress is an important factor contributing to the development of AD, thus, removal of ROS or prevention of their formation may inhibit the progression of AD.

4. NATURAL ANTIOXIDANTS PROTECT NEURON AGAINST AD

Current pharmacotherapies for AD based on inhibition of acetylcholinesterase or antagonization of NMDA receptor activity cause diverse side effects, but produce only modest benefits (79). Therefore, extensive studies are underway to identify effective drugs that are free of undesirable side effects. As accumulating evidences have implicated oxidative stress in the initiation and progression of AD, the potential of using natural antioxidants for prevention and treatment of AD has attracted considerable attention. Here we will review studies on several naturally occurring compounds including Ginkgo biloba flavonoids, soybean isoflavones, theanine Specially, we will discuss their and nicotine. neuroprotective effects against AD and the associated molecular mechanisms.

4.1. Ginkgo biloba flavonoids

EGb 761, a standardized extract of *Ginkgo biloba* leaves containing 24% flavonoids and 6% terpenoids, is taken by the general population to enhance mental focus and by the elderly to delay the onset of age-related loss of cognitive function. During the past decade, *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments in mammalian systems and clinical studies in humans have demonstrated that EGb 761 exhibits a broad range of biochemical and pharmacological effects including cognition enhancement (80-83). Many studies have shown that the neuroprotective effects of EGb 761 are associated with its antioxidant properties.

In rat cerebellar neurons, hydroxyl radicals induced a wide variety of oxidative damages including lipid peroxidation, decrease of membrane fluidity and alteration of the sulfhydryl group binding sites on membrane proteins and apoptosis (84-86). EGb 761 pre-treatment effectively attenuated above oxidative damages while prevented the decrease of *Bcl-2* expression induced by hydroxyl radicals, and protected the cells from apoptosis (84-86). When different components of EGb 761 were studied, it was found that its flavonoid components scavenged hydroxyl radicals as effectively as EGb761, whereas the terpenoid components did not scavenge hydroxyl radicals or protect the cells against hydroxyl radical-induced apoptosis (86, 87), suggesting that the inhibitory effect of EGb 761 on hydroxyl radicals-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis is mainly contributed by its flavonoid components, and that it is possible that components other than flavonoids and terpenoids also contribute to the inhibitory effect of EGb 761 on hydroxyl radicals-induced toxicity. EGb 761 was also shown to be able to rescue rat hippocampal cells from nitric oxide-induced free radical accumulation and cell death, and this effect was attributable to the flavonoid but not the terpenoid components of EGb 761 (88). Moreover, the flavonoid components of EGb761 also protected hippocampal cells from Abeta-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis (89). It has been indicated that the flavonoids with different structures may have different antioxidant potentials and distinct protective mechanisms against cell toxicity (90). In addition, it was also demonstrated that EGb 761 components other than flavonoids and terpenoid was responsible for the elevation of endogenous glutathione synthesis (91). Thus further purification and experimentation using individual components of EGb761 may provide more insights of the neuroprotective mechanisms of the EGb761.

Using a N2a neuroblastoma cell model which expresses double-mutated human APP and PS1 and exhibits increased secretion and intracellular accumulation of Abeta upon stimulation, Luo *et al* demonstrated that an anti-amyloidogenic effect was apparently involved in the neuroprotection of EGb761. It was shown that EGb761 decreased Abeta aggregation both *in vitro* and in the conditioned medium of this Abeta-producing cell model (92). Meanwhile, EGb761 significantly attenuated mitochondrion-initiated apoptosis, decreased the release of cytochrome c, and reduced the activity of caspase 3, a key enzyme in the apoptotic cell signaling cascade (92, 93). In the N2a APP/PS1 cell model as well as a transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans (C. elegans) AD model that constitutively expresses human Abeta, EGb 761 treatment significantly attenuated the basal as well as the Abetainduced production of hydrogen peroxide-related ROS (94). The inhibition of EGb 761 on Abeta oligomerization and deposition were further demonstrated in the transgenic C. elegans AD model in which EGb 761 treatment also alleviated Abeta-induced pathological behaviors such as paralysis, reduced chemotaxis behavior and 5-HT hypersensitivity (95). Moreover, mechanisms other than reduction of oxidative stress was proposed for the suppression of Abeta-induced paralysis by EGb 761 since other antioxidants such as L-ascorbic acid was not effective in suppressing paralysis in this model but could reduce intracellular levels of hydrogen peroxide to the same extent as EGb 761 (95). In AD transgenic mouse model expressing mutants of human APP and PS1 (TgAPP/PS1), Abeta oligomers impaired cell proliferation, while administration of EGb 761 reduced Abeta oligomers and increased cell proliferation in the hippocampus of these mice. The enhanced neurogenesis by EGb 761 was proposed to be mediated by the activation of cAMP response element binding protein, which was inhibited by Abeta oligomers (96). In another AD transgenic mouse model that overexpresses a human APP mutant (Tg2576), Ginkgo biloba extracts was found to block an agedependent decline in spatial cognition without altering Abeta levels and without suppressing protein oxidation (97). It was speculated that Ginkgo biloba extracts might affect the oligomerization of soluble Abeta in the early stages of amyloidosis in this mouse model to prevent the progressive impairment of cognitive function (98). Recently, it was reported that chronic administration of EGb 761 to rats increased dopaminergic transmission in the frontocortical brain areas, which might be another mechanism that contributes to the beneficial effects of Ginkgo biloba extracts on cognitive function (99).

Supplementation of EGb 761 to cognitively intact older adults and patients with dementia has been shown to have some benefits on cognitive function as reported in several studies (100-104). However, the recently published Ginkgo evaluation of memory study, a randomized doubleblind placebo-controlled clinical trial, demonstrated that EGb 761 supplementation was not effective in reducing the incidence of Alzheimer dementia or dementia overall for the elderly with normal cognition or those with MCI (105, 106); therefore, whether supplementation of *Ginkgo biloba* extract can prevent the development of AD is still inconclusive.

4.2. Soybean isoflavones

Estrogen, a steroid hormone well known for its classic effects on the female reproductive system, has also been demonstrated to have neuroprotective and neurotrophic properties through actions both dependent and independent of the nuclear estrogen receptors (107-109). Epidemiological studies suggest that post-menopausal women using estrogen replacement therapy have a decreased risk of developing dementia (110). Despite the benefits, long-term hormone therapy has been associated with increased risks of breast cancer and stroke, therefore, a

great amount of research has been focused on alternative approaches that can mimic the beneficial impacts of estrogen while have less adverse effects.

Soybeans contain a large amount of isoflavones, including genistein, daidzein, glycitein and their glycosides (111). The soybean isoflavones have been demonstrated to have affinity to estrogen receptor (112) and have diverse physiological functions including reduction of oxidative stress, enhancement of antioxidant defense and inhibition of protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) (113-117). The existing data strongly suggest that the soybean isoflavones have protective effects against several chronic diseases including the diseases associated with postmenopausal estrogen deficiency such as atherosclerosis (118), and hormonedependent breast and prostate cancers (119). It was reported that genistein protected rat brain synaptosomes from ROS overproduction induced by Abeta oligmers (120), and rescued rat cortical neuronal cells from Abetainduced oxidative stress and cell death through inhibition of p38 activity (121). In hippocampal neuronal cells, genistein reversed Abeta-induced ROS accumulation, activation of caspase-3 and apoptosis (122). The elevation of intracellular calcium triggered by Abeta, which may act as a sensor in the apoptotic process, was also markedly attenuated by genistein, though the underlined mechanisms are still not clear (122). The increase in intracellular calcium could result in tau hyperphosphorylation through a glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta dependent pathway (123). From this point of view, blocking the elevated intracellular calcium by genistein may reduce tau-associated pathology (122). It was also suggested that the neuroprotective effect of genistein might involve both antioxidative effects and the estrogen receptor-mediated pathways, dependent on the dose of genistein used (122).

Further evaluation on the neuroprotective effects of soybean isoflavones (genistein, daidzein and glycitein) in *C. elegans* AD model revealed that only glycitein, which accounts for 5–10% of the total isoflavones in soy foods, reduced the formation of Abeta and alleviated the paralysis induced by Abeta in the worm, an action correlated with an effective reduction of hydrogen peroxide in the model. The study demonstrated that glycitein might suppress Abeta toxicity through combined reduction of ROS and inhibition of Abeta deposition, thus, the potential of using this soybean isoflavone for prevention of Abeta associated neurodegenerative disorders is worth to explored further (124).

There is some evidence that soybean isoflavone administration may have a positive effect on selective cognitive activities, the clinical trials studying the effects of soybean isoflavones on cognitive function, however, generated mixed results. The variation in the phytoestrogen composition used in the studies and the heterogeneous profile of the study populations are suggested to contribute to the discrepant outcomes across studies (125).

4.3. Nicotine

Smokers have a less risk to develop degenerative diseases such as AD and PD that are both associated with increased oxidative stress, although the mechanisms are not

totally understood (126). Nicotine, a major component of cigarette smoke, has been shown to have protective effects against Abeta-induced neurotoxicity. Study using electron paramagnetic resonance (ESR) spectroscopy techniques demonstrated that the scavenging effects of nicotine on hydroxyl radicals and superoxide free radicals were higher than that of vitamin C, indicating that nicotine is a potential antioxidant (127). In cultured hippocampal neuronal cells, nicotine effectively inhibited Abeta-induced caspase activity and apoptosis meanwhile suppressed the accumulation of free radicals and increase of intracellular calcium. Cholinergic antagonist mecamylamine abrogated the protection of nicotine against Abeta-induced caspase-3 activation and ROS accumulation, suggesting that the neuroprotective effect of nicotine is partly mediated by nicotinic receptors (128). In contrast, the inhibition of nicotine on mitochondria swelling and cytochrome c release from mitochondria induced by calcium and neurotoxins such as N-methyl-4-phenylpyridine (MPP⁺) and 6-hydroxydopamine was found to be a receptorindependent effect (129). Further investigation revealed that nicotine decreased the electron leak at the site of respiratory chain complex I and preserved intramitochondria redox state. These results suggest that the neuroprotective effect of nicotine may involve its protection against mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress (129).

It has been reported by several groups that nicotine treatment effectively lower Abeta deposits in the brains of AD transgenic mice (130-132), an action perhaps partly mediated by the alpha 7 nicotinic receptor, however, the exact mechanisms are still not clear. Transition metals such as copper, zinc, and iron have been detected within the amyloid deposits in AD brains (133) and the abnormal interactions of Abeta with the metal ions are implicated in the process of Abeta deposition in AD brains (134-138). When the effect of nicotine was investigated in APPV717I transgenic AD model, it was found that nicotine treatment significantly lowered the copper and zinc concentration in senile plaques and a subfield of the hippocampus CA1 region in the brains of these mice (139). Consistently, in SH-SY5Y cells overexpressing the Swedish mutant form of human APP (APPsw), nicotine treatment decreased the intracellular copper concentration and attenuated the copper-facilitated neurotoxicity induced by Abeta, effects which were found to be independent of the activation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (139). These results suggest that nicotine can reduce beta-amyloidosis by regulating metal homeostasis (139).

Along with the decreased accumulation of Abeta, the production of NO, the activity and expression of iNOS were also found to be down-regulated in the cortex and hippocampus of APPV717I transgenic mice by nicotine treatment, suggesting an attenuation of oxidative stress (132). The decreased iNOS expression might be resulted from a decreased NF-kappB activation by nicotine treatment. The expressions of p65 and p50 subunits of NFkapp B as well as the DNA binding activity of the transcription factor in cortex and hippocampus of the mice were found to be significantly decreased by nicotine. In

addition, the expression and nuclear binding activity of c-Myc, which plays a major role in transcriptional regulation of apoptosis and cell cycle, were reduced by nicotine in the cortex and hippocampus. This decreased c-myc expression might involve the down-regulation of NF-kappa B pathways, which have diverse functions including regulating cell cycle and apoptosis. Agreed with these findings, nicotine was found to modulate apoptosis and cell cycle progression in APPV717I mice in a manner that Furthermore, the favored its neuroprotective effect. activation of MAP kinases was decreased in the nicotinetreated animals, which might have a role in mediating the inhibition of c-Myc expression and NF-KB activation by nicotine (132). It is also demonstrated that alpha7 subunit mRNA expression was significantly increased after chronic nicotine treatment in the hippocampus of APPV717I mice and RNA interference experiments showed that the nicotine-mediated effects required alpha 7 nAChR (132). More recently, it was shown in a rat model of AD that chronic nicotine treatment prevented Abeta-induced reduction of alpha 7 nAChR and prevented Abeta-induced impairment of learning and short-term memory (140). These evidences point to the involvement of alpha 7 nAChR in the neuroprotective effect of nicotine. Since nicotine is a toxic chemical that is known for its psychoactivity, these studies on the molecular mechanisms of the neuroprotective effects of nicotine may shed light on developing new compounds that have similar neuroprotective actions as nicotine but are less toxic for future AD therapy.

4.4. Theanine

L-theanine is a major amino acid derivative component in green tea that is also widely used as a food additive to reduce anxiety (141). It is suggested that Ltheanine may be involved in cognitive performance (142). As a natural antagonist of glutamate, L-theanine can inhibit the re-uptake of glutamate from the synaptic cleft and block the glutamate receptors in the hippocampus (143). Overstimulation of NMDA subtype of L-glutamate receptors, which causes calcium influx, ROS production and Abetainduced neuronal death, also accelerates Abeta production (144, 145). According to these findings, it is possible that L-theanine may have protective effects against neurotoxicity induced by L-glutamate and Abeta. Results from studying the neuroprotective effects of L-theanine using an AD cell model overexpressing APPsw (APPsw) support this hypothesis (146). In this cell model, the expression of APPsw rendered cells more susceptible to glutamate-induced excitotoxicity. It was found that the cell viability was decreased by L-glutamate treatment, which was significantly improved by L-theanine. Meanwhile, apoptosis and caspase-3 activation induced by L-glutamate was suppressed by L-theanine. Further. L-theanine ameliorated glutamate-induced apoptosis in a way similar to that of the NMDA receptor inhibitor MK-801 and the NOS inhibitor L-NMMA, indicating that L-theanine may protect APPsw cells from glutamate-induced apoptosis via inhibition of NMDA receptor overactivation, NO overproduction, and the related pathways. In fact, excessive NO formation can be caused by stimulation of the NMDA receptor (147). In APPsw cells, L-glutamate

significantly increased the generation of NO, while pretreatment of cells with L-theanine prevented the increase of NO production, an effect likely resulted from the down-regulation of iNOS and neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) protein levels by L-theanine. Overactivation of the NMDA receptor by L-glutamate stimulation may cause increase of intracellular calcium and disturbance of calcium homeostasis that have been indicated in the neuronal loss seen in AD (147). Pretreatment of L-theanine significantly prevented the elevation of intracellular calcium level and the disturbance of calcium homeostasis induced by Lglutamate stimulation. Last, L-theanine treatment also inhibited the increase of Abeta secretion induced by Lglutamate. These results indicate that the inhibition of the NMDA subtype of glutamate receptors and its related pathways is the crucial point of the neuroprotective effect of L-theanine in this AD cell model, and support the notion that L-theanine may provide effective prophylaxis and treatment for Alzheimer's disease (146).

Consistently, it was shown that oral treatment of L-theanine dose-dependently reduced Abeta42 levels and the Abeta42-induced neuronal cell death in the cortex and hippocampus of the brain and significantly attenuated Abeta42-induced learning and memory impairment in an AD mouse model, in which mice were subjected to a single intracerebroventricular injection of Abeta peptides. Moreover, L-theanine caused elevation of glutathione levels and significantly reduced oxidative products of proteins and lipids in brains of these mice. It was also found that L-theanine inhibited Abeta42-induced extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and p38 MAPK as well as the activity of NF-kappa B, suggesting that the positive effects of L-theanine on memory and learning may be contributed by the suppression of these signaling pathways as well as the reduction of macromolecular oxidative damages (148).

4.5. Other natural antioxidants

In addition to above mentioned studies, a wide range of natural antioxidants including vitamins, fruits extracts and herb components, have been reported for their neuroprotective effects, several of them have been reviewed in details elsewhere including resveratrol, curcumin and green tea catechins (149-154).

EGCG, the main catechins constituent of green tea, was reported to reduce Abeta generation in both N2a overexpressing human Swedish mutant APP and in primary neurons derived from Tg2576 through promotion of the nonamyloidogenic alpha-secretase proteolytic pathway (155). Interestingly, it was reported that oral co-treatment with fish oil and EGCG led to a synergetic effect on inhibition of cerebral Abeta deposits in Tg2576 mice. As the comparable effective dose of EGCG in humans may exceed clinical convenience and/or safety, the study provides a solution by co-treatment with fish oil, which bioavailability enhanced of EGCG, allowing supplementation with moderate dose to achieve significant therapeutic effects (156).

As a major component of the phospholipids in neuronal membranes, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), especially docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6, n-3), play important roles in maintaining the proper neuronal and Epidemiological studies have brain functions (157). demonstrated that the prevalence of AD is lower in people who regularly consume fish or foods rich in n-3 PUFAs, while the plasma DHA concentration is inversely correlated with the risk of AD (158, 159). Although not effective for patients with mild to moderate AD, supplementation of n-3 PUFAs for 6 months caused a slower decline in cognitive functions in patients with very mild AD, suggesting the possibility that supplementation of n-3 PUFAs may be beneficial for preventing the initial progression of AD (160). Studies using AD transgenic mice showed that supplementation of DHA not only decreased the Abeta production and deposition in the brains of the animals, but also inhibited the activation of caspase (161-164). Multiple mechanisms have been implicated in the prevention of AD by n-3 PUFAs, including anti-apoptosis, antiinflammations, and promotion of neurogenesis (165-167). Although n-3 PUFAs can react with oxygen free radicals leading to lipid peroxidation, enrichment of n-3 PUFAs in cell membrane has been shown to improve the antioxidant defense capability of the cell manifested by increased catalase activity and glutathione level, and decreased iNOS expression and NO production (168, 169). Consistently, deficiency of n-3 PUFAs in AD transgenic mouse model (3xTg-AD) caused significant increase in protein oxidation Therefore, enhancing the antioxidant defense, (164).reduction of oxidative stress and modulation of cell signals that eventually breaking the vicious cycle forming by Abeta and oxidative stress may be an important mechanism involved in the neuroprotection of n-3 PUFAs.

5. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

As the aging population increases, the prevalence of AD has increased remarkably worldwide and is expected to continually rise, unless effective prevention and/or treatment strategies are developed (2-5). A number of drugs have been approved for the treatment of AD, however, they produce only modest benefits and cause a wide variety of side effects (79). Therefore, there is an urgent need for new AD prevention and treatment strategies with better efficacy and fewer side effects. Oxidative stress is one of the earliest alterations occurring in the pathogenesis of AD and has been implicated in the Abetainduced synaptic dysfunction and neuronal loss (25, 32, 35). The accumulation of Abeta stimulates oxidative stress, which in turn leads to an enhancement of Abeta production, thus forming a vicious cycle that promotes the initiation and progression of AD. Therefore, it is possible that the prevention of oxidative stress may delay the onset of AD and slow down the disease progression.

Many studies have demonstrated that natural antioxidants can attenuate the neurotoxicty induced by Abeta such as oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and neuronal apoptosis. As AD pathogenesis involves multiple molecular events (1), the neuroprotective effects of natural antioxidants appear to involve multiple mechanisms as well. In addition to the reduction of oxidative stress, prevention of apoptosis and promotion of neurogenesis, natural antioxidants have also been shown to inhibit Abeta accumulation and aggregation, restore calcium homeostasis and reduce the transition metal overload in the brain. The anti-inflammation properties of many antioxidants, which are not discussed in the current review, are also implicated in their neuroprotective Most of the evidences suggest that mechanisms. supplementation of natural antioxidants or intake of foods rich in natural antioxidants may provide benefit to the elderly individuals who are at the risk of developing AD and patients with AD. Such foods as fresh fruits and vegetables, soybean and tea are associated with decreased risk of developing high serum cholesterol and glucose intolerance that are also known risk factors for AD and dementia (1).

In the future, more effort should be spent on evaluating the efficacy of the nature antioxidants on AD prevention and intervention using clinical trials. Since most natural antioxidants have complex composition, a standardized formulation may be used for individual antioxidants. A well-characterized study population is also required to avoid the discrepancies among different trials. The absorption and metabolism of individual antioxidants as well as their transport to brain need to be characterized to determine the effective dose and facilitate the evaluation of the efficacy of the clinical trials. In addition, most of the studies have been focused on Abeta mediated pathology. As some natural antioxidants may act differentially on Abeta and tau pathology, it is important to test their effects in a model that develop both Abeta and tau neuropathological lesions. Isolation and purification of natural antioxidants, which have complex compositions, may provide further insights of the protective mechanisms of the natural antioxidants against AD.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (30930036, 30870587) and 973 (2006CB500706). Y. Z. is supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (HIT.NSRIF.2009147).

7. REFERENCES

1. H. W. Querfurth and F. M. LaFerla: Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med* 362, (4) 329-44 (2010)

2. 2010 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimers Dement* 6, (2) 158-94 (2010)

3. M. J. Dong, B. Peng, X. T. Lin, J. Zhao, Y. R. Zhou, and R. H. Wang: The prevalence of dementia in the People's Republic of China: a systematic analysis of 1980-2004 studies. *Age Ageing* 36, (6) 619-24 (2007)

4. C. P. Ferri, M. Prince, C. Brayne, H. Brodaty, L. Fratiglioni, M. Ganguli, K. Hall, K. Hasegawa, H. Hendrie, Y. Huang, A. Jorm, C. Mathers, P. R. Menezes, E. Rimmer,

and M. Scazufca: Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. *Lancet* 366, (9503) 2112-7 (2005)

5. R. N. Kalaria, G. E. Maestre, R. Arizaga, R. P. Friedland, D. Galasko, K. Hall, J. A. Luchsinger, A. Ogunniyi, E. K. Perry, F. Potocnik, M. Prince, R. Stewart, A. Wimo, Z. X. Zhang, and P. Antuono: Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia in developing countries: prevalence, management, and risk factors. *Lancet Neurol* 7, (9) 812-26 (2008)

6. G. Wang, Q. Cheng, S. Zhang, L. Bai, J. Zeng, P. J. Cui, T. Zhang, Z. K. Sun, R. J. Ren, Y. L. Deng, W. Xu, Y. Wang, and S. D. Chen: Economic impact of dementia in developing countries: an evaluation of Alzheimer-type dementia in Shanghai, China. *J Alzheimers Dis* 15, (1) 109-15 (2008)

7. L. Jonsson and A. Wimo: The cost of dementia in Europe: a review of the evidence, and methodological considerations. *Pharmacoeconomics* 27, (5) 391-403 (2009)

8. A. Wimo, B. Winblad, and L. Jonsson: The worldwide societal costs of dementia: Estimates for 2009. *Alzheimers Dement* 6, (2) 98-103 (2010)

9. M. Goedert and M. G. Spillantini: A century of Alzheimer's disease. *Science* 314, (5800) 777-81 (2006)

10. H. Steiner: Uncovering gamma-secretase. Curr Alzheimer Res 1, (3) 175-81 (2004)

11. D. M. Walsh and D. J. Selkoe: A beta oligomers - a decade of discovery. *J Neurochem* 101, (5) 1172-84 (2007)

12. W. P. Esler and M. S. Wolfe: A portrait of Alzheimer secretases--new features and familiar faces. *Science* 293, (5534) 1449-54 (2001)

13. B. A. Yankner and T. Lu: Amyloid beta-protein toxicity and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer disease. *J Biol Chem* 284, (8) 4755-9 (2009)

14. E. D. Roberson and L. Mucke: 100 years and counting: prospects for defeating Alzheimer's disease. *Science* 314, (5800) 781-4 (2006)

15. R. B. Maccioni, J. P. Munoz, and L. Barbeito: The molecular bases of Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Arch Med Res* 32, (5) 367-81 (2001)

16. K. Hsiao, P. Chapman, S. Nilsen, C. Eckman, Y. Harigaya, S. Younkin, F. Yang, and G. Cole: Correlative memory deficits, Abeta elevation, and amyloid plaques in transgenic mice. *Science* 274, (5284) 99-102 (1996)

17. K. Iqbal, F. Liu, C. X. Gong, C. Alonso Adel, and I. Grundke-Iqbal: Mechanisms of tau-induced neurodegeneration. *Acta Neuropathol* 118, (1) 53-69 (2009)

18. M. L. Billingsley and R. L. Kincaid: Regulated phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of tau protein: effects on microtubule interaction, intracellular trafficking and neurodegeneration. *Biochem J* 323 (Pt 3), 577-91 (1997)

19. N. Ghoshal, F. Garcia-Sierra, J. Wuu, S. Leurgans, D. A. Bennett, R. W. Berry, and L. I. Binder: Tau conformational changes correspond to impairments of episodic memory in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Neurol* 177, (2) 475-93 (2002)

20. K. Santacruz, J. Lewis, T. Spires, J. Paulson, L. Kotilinek, M. Ingelsson, A. Guimaraes, M. DeTure, M. Ramsden, E. McGowan, C. Forster, M. Yue, J. Orne, C. Janus, A. Mariash, M. Kuskowski, B. Hyman, M. Hutton, and K. H. Ashe: Tau suppression in a neurodegenerative mouse model improves memory function. *Science* 309, (5733) 476-81 (2005)

21. S. Le Corre, H. W. Klafki, N. Plesnila, G. Hubinger, A. Obermeier, H. Sahagun, B. Monse, P. Seneci, J. Lewis, J. Eriksen, C. Zehr, M. Yue, E. McGowan, D. W. Dickson, M. Hutton, and H. M. Roder: An inhibitor of tau hyperphosphorylation prevents severe motor impairments in tau transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, (25) 9673-8 (2006)

22. W. H. Zheng, S. Bastianetto, F. Mennicken, W. Ma, and S. Kar: Amyloid beta peptide induces tau phosphorylation and loss of cholinergic neurons in rat primary septal cultures. *Neuroscience* 115, (1) 201-11 (2002)

23. J. Lewis, D. W. Dickson, W. L. Lin, L. Chisholm, A. Corral, G. Jones, S. H. Yen, N. Sahara, L. Skipper, D. Yager, C. Eckman, J. Hardy, M. Hutton, and E. McGowan: Enhanced neurofibrillary degeneration in transgenic mice expressing mutant tau and APP. *Science* 293, (5534) 1487-91 (2001)

24. J. Gotz, F. Chen, J. van Dorpe, and R. M. Nitsch: Formation of neurofibrillary tangles in P3011 tau transgenic mice induced by Abeta 42 fibrils. *Science* 293, (5534) 1491-5 (2001)

25. D. Pratico: Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease: a reappraisal. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 29, (12) 609-615 (2008)

26. E. R. Stadtman: Metal ion-catalyzed oxidation of proteins: biochemical mechanism and biological consequences. *Free Radic Biol Med* 9, (4) 315-25 (1990)

27., A. Nunomura, G. Perry, M. A. Pappolla, R. Wade, K. Hirai, S. Chiba, and M. A. Smith: RNA oxidation is a prominent feature of vulnerable neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci* 19, (6) 1959-64 (1999)

28. S. P. Gabbita, M. A. Lovell, and W. R. Markesbery: Increased nuclear DNA oxidation in the brain in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* 71, (5) 2034-40 (1998) 29. P. Mecocci, U. MacGarvey, and M. F. Beal: Oxidative damage to mitochondrial DNA is increased in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* 36, (5) 747-51 (1994)

30. D. A. Butterfield and J. Kanski: Brain protein oxidation in age-related neurodegenerative disorders that are associated with aggregated proteins. *Mech Ageing Dev* 122, (9) 945-62 (2001)

31. M. F. Beal: Oxidatively modified proteins in aging and disease. Free Radic Biol Med 32, (9) 797-803 (2002)

32. D. Pratico and S. Sung: Lipid peroxidation and oxidative imbalance: early functional events in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers *Dis* 6, (2) 171-5 (2004)

33. M. A. Lovell, W. D. Ehmann, S. M. Butler, and W. R. Markesbery: Elevated thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances and antioxidant enzyme activity in the brain in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 45, (8) 1594-601 (1995)

34. W. R. Markesbery and M. A. Lovell: Fourhydroxynonenal, a product of lipid peroxidation, is increased in the brain in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 19, (1) 33-6 (1998)

35. T. I. Williams, B. C. Lynn, W. R. Markesbery, and M. A. Lovell: Increased levels of 4-hydroxynonenal and acrolein, neurotoxic markers of lipid peroxidation, in the brain in Mild Cognitive Impairment and early Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 27, (8) 1094-9 (2006)

36. D. L. Marcus, C. Thomas, C. Rodriguez, K. Simberkoff, J. S. Tsai, J. A. Strafaci, and M. L. Freedman: Increased peroxidation and reduced antioxidant enzyme activity in Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Neurol* 150, (1) 40-4 (1998)

37. M. Padurariu, A. Ciobica, L. Hritcu, B. Stoica, W. Bild, and C. Stefanescu: Changes of some oxidative stress markers in the serum of patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 469, (1) 6-10 (2010)

38. R. A. Omar, Y. J. Chyan, A. C. Andorn, B. Poeggeler, N. K. Robakis, and M. A. Pappolla: Increased Expression but Reduced Activity of Antioxidant Enzymes in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* 1, (3) 139-145 (1999)

39. A. Furuta, D. L. Price, C. A. Pardo, J. C. Troncoso, Z. S. Xu, N. Taniguchi, and L. J. Martin: Localization of superoxide dismutases in Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome neocortex and hippocampus. *Am J Pathol* 146, (2) 357-67 (1995)

40. M. A. Ansari and S. W. Scheff: Oxidative stress in the progression of Alzheimer disease in the frontal cortex. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 69, (2) 155-67 (2010) 41. M. A. Smith, C. A. Rottkamp, A. Nunomura, A. K. Raina, and G. Perry: Oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1502, (1) 139-44 (2000)

42. S. Varadarajan, S. Yatin, M. Aksenova, and D. A. Butterfield: Review: Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptideassociated free radical oxidative stress and neurotoxicity. *J Struct Biol* 130, (2-3) 184-208 (2000)

43. M. P. Mattson: Cellular actions of beta-amyloid precursor protein and its soluble and fibrillogenic derivatives. *Physiol Rev* 77, (4) 1081-132 (1997)

44. C. Behl, J. B. Davis, R. Lesley, and D. Schubert: Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. *Cell* 77, (6) 817-27 (1994)

45. Y. Matsuoka, M. Picciano, J. La Francois, and K. Duff: Fibrillar beta-amyloid evokes oxidative damage in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience* 104, (3) 609-13 (2001)

46. M. A. Smith, K. Hirai, K. Hsiao, M. A. Pappolla, P. L. Harris, S. L. Siedlak, M. Tabaton, and G. Perry: Amyloidbeta deposition in Alzheimer transgenic mice is associated with oxidative stress. *J Neurochem* 70, (5) 2212-5 (1998)

47. H. Mohmmad Abdul, R. Sultana, J. N. Keller, D. K. St Clair, W. R. Markesbery, and D. A. Butterfield: Mutations in amyloid precursor protein and presenilin-1 genes increase the basal oxidative stress in murine neuronal cells and lead to increased sensitivity to oxidative stress mediated by amyloid beta-peptide (1-42), HO and kainic acid: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* 96, (5) 1322-35 (2006)

48. M. Manczak, T. S. Anekonda, E. Henson, B. S. Park, J. Quinn, and P. H. Reddy: Mitochondria are a direct site of A beta accumulation in Alzheimer's disease neurons: implications for free radical generation and oxidative damage in disease progression. *Hum Mol Genet* 15, (9) 1437-49 (2006)

49. J. Apelt, M. Bigl, P. Wunderlich, and R. Schliebs: Aging-related increase in oxidative stress correlates with developmental pattern of beta-secretase activity and betaamyloid plaque formation in transgenic Tg2576 mice with Alzheimer-like pathology. *Int J Dev Neurosci* 22, (7) 475-84 (2004)

50. F. G. De Felice, P. T. Velasco, M. P. Lambert, K. Viola, S. J. Fernandez, S. T. Ferreira, and W. L. Klein: Abeta oligomers induce neuronal oxidative stress through an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-dependent mechanism that is blocked by the Alzheimer drug memantine. *J Biol Chem* 282, (15) 11590-601 (2007)

51. C. Caspersen, N. Wang, J. Yao, A. Sosunov, X. Chen, J. W. Lustbader, H. W. Xu, D. Stern, G. McKhann, and S. D. Yan: Mitochondrial Abeta: a potential focal point for neuronal metabolic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *Faseb J* 19, (14) 2040-1 (2005)

52. S. Tan, Y. Sagara, Y. Liu, P. Maher, and D. Schubert: The regulation of reactive oxygen species production during programmed cell death. *J Cell Biol* 141, (6) 1423-32 (1998)

53. V. G. Grivennikova and A. D. Vinogradov: Generation of superoxide by the mitochondrial Complex I. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1757, (5-6) 553-61 (2006)

54. C. M. Rodrigues, S. Sola, M. A. Brito, C. D. Brondino, D. Brites, and J. J. Moura: Amyloid beta-peptide disrupts mitochondrial membrane lipid and protein structure: protective role of tauroursodeoxycholate. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 281, (2) 468-74 (2001)

55. C. S. Casley, L. Canevari, J. M. Land, J. B. Clark, and M. A. Sharpe: Beta-amyloid inhibits integrated mitochondrial respiration and key enzyme activities. *J Neurochem* 80, (1) 91-100 (2002)

56. M. Anantharaman, J. Tangpong, J. N. Keller, M. P. Murphy, W. R. Markesbery, K. K. Kiningham, and D. K. St Clair: Beta-amyloid mediated nitration of manganese superoxide dismutase: implication for oxidative stress in a APPNLH/NLH X PS-1P264L/P264L double knock-in mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 168, (5) 1608-18 (2006)

57. S. Rousset, M. C. Alves-Guerra, J. Mozo, B. Miroux, A. M. Cassard-Doulcier, F. Bouillaud, and D. Ricquier: The biology of mitochondrial uncoupling proteins. Diabetes 53 Suppl 1, S130-5 (2004)

58. K. S. Echtay: Mitochondrial uncoupling proteins--what is their physiological role? Free Radic Biol Med 43, (10) 1351-71 (2007)

59. S. M. de la Monte and J. R. Wands: Molecular indices of oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction occur early and often progress with severity of Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* 9, (2) 167-81 (2006)

60. Z. Wu, J. Zhang, and B. Zhao: Superoxide anion regulates the mitochondrial free Ca2+ through uncoupling proteins. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 11, (8) 1805-18 (2009)

61. F. Li, N. Y. Calingasan, F. Yu, W. M. Mauck, M. Toidze, C. G. Almeida, R. H. Takahashi, G. A. Carlson, M. Flint Beal, M. T. Lin, and G. K. Gouras: Increased plaque burden in brains of APP mutant MnSOD heterozygous knockout mice. *J Neurochem* 89, (5) 1308-12 (2004)

62. Y. Nishida, T. Yokota, T. Takahashi, T. Uchihara, K. Jishage, and H. Mizusawa: Deletion of vitamin E enhances phenotype of Alzheimer disease model mouse. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 350, (3) 530-6 (2006)

63. G. P. Lim, T. Chu, F. Yang, W. Beech, S. A. Frautschy, and G. M. Cole: The curry spice curcumin

reduces oxidative damage and amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse. *J Neurosci* 21, (21) 8370-7 (2001)

64. M. Dumont, E. Wille, C. Stack, N. Y. Calingasan, M. F. Beal, and M. T. Lin: Reduction of oxidative stress, amyloid deposition, and memory deficit by manganese superoxide dismutase overexpression in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Faseb J* 23, (8) 2459-66 (2009)

65. E. Tamagno, P. Bardini, A. Obbili, A. Vitali, R. Borghi, D. Zaccheo, M. A. Pronzato, O. Danni, M. A. Smith, G. Perry, and M. Tabaton: Oxidative stress increases expression and activity of BACE in NT2 neurons. *Neurobiol Dis* 10, (3) 279-88 (2002)

66. A. Oda, A. Tamaoka, and W. Araki: Oxidative stress up-regulates presenilin 1 in lipid rafts in neuronal cells. *J Neurosci Res* 88, (5) 1137-45 (2009)

67. M. H. Yoo, X. Gu, X. M. Xu, J. Y. Kim, B. A. Carlson, A. D. Patterson, H. Cai, V. N. Gladyshev, and D. L. Hatfield: Delineating the role of glutathione peroxidase 4 in protecting cells against lipid hydroperoxide damage and in Alzheimer's disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 12, (7) 819-27 (2010)

68. L. Chen, R. Na, M. Gu, A. Richardson, and Q. Ran: Lipid peroxidation up-regulates BACE1 expression *in vivo*: a possible early event of amyloidogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* 107, (1) 197-207 (2008)

69. E. Tamagno, M. Guglielmotto, M. Aragno, R. Borghi, R. Autelli, L. Giliberto, G. Muraca, O. Danni, X. Zhu, M. A. Smith, G. Perry, D. G. Jo, M. P. Mattson, and M. Tabaton: Oxidative stress activates a positive feedback between the gamma- and beta-secretase cleavages of the beta-amyloid precursor protein. *J Neurochem* 104, (3) 683-95 (2008)

70. C. Shen, Y. Chen, H. Liu, K. Zhang, T. Zhang, A. Lin, and N. Jing: Hydrogen peroxide promotes Abeta production through JNK-dependent activation of gamma-secretase. *J Biol Chem* 283, (25) 17721-30 (2008)

71. K. Sambamurti, R. Kinsey, B. Maloney, Y. W. Ge, and D. K. Lahiri: Gene structure and organization of the human betasecretase (BACE) promoter. *Faseb J* 18, (9) 1034-6 (2004)

72. X. Zhu, A. K. Raina, C. A. Rottkamp, G. Aliev, G. Perry, H. Boux, and M. A. Smith: Activation and redistribution of cjun N-terminal kinase/stress activated protein kinase in degenerating neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* 76, (2) 435-41 (2001)

73. X. Zhu, O. Ogawa, Y. Wang, G. Perry, and M. A. Smith: JKK1, an upstream activator of JNK/SAPK, is activated in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* 85, (1) 87-93 (2003)

74. S. Lagalwar, A. L. Guillozet-Bongaarts, R. W. Berry, and L. I. Binder: Formation of phospho-SAPK/JNK granules in the hippocampus is an early event in Alzheimer disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 65, (5) 455-64 (2006)

75. H. Fukumoto, B. S. Cheung, B. T. Hyman, and M. C. Irizarry: Beta-secretase protein and activity are increased in the neocortex in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* 59, (9) 1381-9 (2002)

76. L. B. Yang, K. Lindholm, R. Yan, M. Citron, W. Xia, X. L. Yang, T. Beach, L. Sue, P. Wong, D. Price, R. Li, and Y. Shen: Elevated beta-secretase expression and enzymatic activity detected in sporadic Alzheimer disease. *Nat Med* 9, (1) 3-4 (2003)

77. T. Matsui, M. Ingelsson, H. Fukumoto, K. Ramasamy, H. Kowa, M. P. Frosch, M. C. Irizarry, and B. T. Hyman: Expression of APP pathway mRNAs and proteins in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res* 1161, 116-23 (2007)

78. M. Yao, T. V. Nguyen, and C. J. Pike: Beta-amyloidinduced neuronal apoptosis involves c-Jun N-terminal kinase-dependent downregulation of Bcl-w. *J Neurosci* 25, (5) 1149-58 (2005)

79. A. Lleo, S. M. Greenberg, and J. H. Growdon: Current pharmacotherapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Annu Rev Med* 57, 513-33 (2006)

80. C. P. Ward, K. Redd, B. M. Williams, J. R. Caler, Y. Luo, and J. G. McCoy: Ginkgo biloba extract: cognitive enhancer or antistress buffer. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 72, (4) 913-22 (2002)

81. P. Curtis-Prior, D. Vere, and P. Fray: Therapeutic value of Ginkgo biloba in reducing symptoms of decline in mental function. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 51, (5) 535-41 (1999)

82. E. Winter: Effects of an extract of Ginkgo biloba on learning and memory in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 38, (1) 109-14 (1991)

83. J. C. Winter: The effects of an extract of Ginkgo biloba, EGb 761, on cognitive behavior and longevity in the rat. *Physiol Behav* 63, (3) 425-33 (1998)

84. Y. Ni, B. Zhao, J. Hou, and W. Xin: Preventive effect of Ginkgo biloba extract on apoptosis in rat cerebellar neuronal cells induced by hydroxyl radicals. *Neurosci Lett* 214, (2-3) 115-8 (1996)

85. T. Wei, Y. Ni, J. Hou, C. Chen, B. Zhao, and W. Xin: Hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative damage and apoptosis in cerebellar granule cells: protection by Ginkgo biloba extract. *Pharmacol Res* 41, (4) 427-33 (2000)

86. W. Xin, T. Wei, C. Chen, Y. Ni, B. Zhao, and J. Hou: Mechanisms of apoptosis in rat cerebellar granule cells induced by hydroxyl radicals and the effects of EGb761 and its constituents. *Toxicology* 148, (2-3) 103-10 (2000)

87. C. Chen, T. Wei, Z. Gao, B. Zhao, J. Hou, H. Xu, W. Xin, and L. Packer: Different effects of the constituents of EGb761 on apoptosis in rat cerebellar granule cells induced by hydroxyl radicals. *Biochem Mol Biol Int* 47, (3) 397-405 (1999)

88. S. Bastianetto, W. H. Zheng, and R. Quirion: The Ginkgo biloba extract (EGb 761) protects and rescues hippocampal cells against nitric oxide-induced toxicity: involvement of its flavonoid constituents and protein kinase C. *J Neurochem* 74, (6) 2268-77 (2000)

89. S. Bastianetto, C. Ramassamy, S. Dore, Y. Christen, J. Poirier, and R. Quirion: The Ginkgo biloba extract (EGb 761) protects hippocampal neurons against cell death induced by beta-amyloid. *Eur J Neurosci* 12, (6) 1882-90 (2000)

90. K. Ishige, D. Schubert, and Y. Sagara: Flavonoids protect neuronal cells from oxidative stress by three distinct mechanisms. *Free Radic Biol Med* 30, (4) 433-46 (2001)

91. G. Rimbach, K. Gohil, S. Matsugo, H. Moini, C. Saliou, F. Virgili, S. U. Weber, and L. Packer: Induction of glutathione synthesis in human keratinocytes by Ginkgo biloba extract (EGb761). *Biofactors* 15, (1) 39-52 (2001)

92. Y. Luo, J. V. Smith, V. Paramasivam, A. Burdick, K. J. Curry, J. P. Buford, I. Khan, W. J. Netzer, H. Xu, and P. Butko: Inhibition of amyloid-beta aggregation and caspase-3 activation by the Ginkgo biloba extract EGb761. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, (19) 12197-202 (2002)

93. J. V. Smith, A. J. Burdick, P. Golik, I. Khan, D. Wallace, and Y. Luo: Anti-apoptotic properties of Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 in differentiated PC12 cells. *Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand)* 48, (6) 699-707 (2002)

94. J. V. Smith and Y. Luo: Elevation of oxidative free radicals in Alzheimer's disease models can be attenuated by Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761. *J Alzheimers Dis* 5, (4) 287-300 (2003)

95. Y. Wu, Z. Wu, P. Butko, Y. Christen, M. P. Lambert, W. L. Klein, C. D. Link, and Y. Luo: Amyloid-beta-induced pathological behaviors are suppressed by Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 and ginkgolides in transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans. *J Neurosci* 26, (50) 13102-13 (2006)

96. F. Tchantchou, Y. Xu, Y. Wu, Y. Christen, and Y. Luo: EGb 761 enhances adult hippocampal neurogenesis and phosphorylation of CREB in transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Faseb J* 21, (10) 2400-8 (2007)

97. R. W. Stackman, F. Eckenstein, B. Frei, D. Kulhanek, J. Nowlin, and J. F. Quinn: Prevention of age-related spatial memory deficits in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease by chronic Ginkgo biloba treatment. *Exp Neurol* 184, (1) 510-20 (2003)

98. J. F. Quinn, J. R. Bussiere, R. S. Hammond, T. J. Montine, E. Henson, R. E. Jones and R. W. Stackman, Jr: Chronic dietary alpha-lipoic acid reduces deficits in hippocampal memory of aged Tg2576 mice. *Neurobiol Aging* 28, 213-225 (2007)

99. T. Yoshitake, S. Yoshitake, and J. Kehr: The Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761(R) and its main constituent

flavonoids and ginkgolides increase extracellular dopamine levels in the rat prefrontal cortex. *Br J Pharmacol* 159, 659-668 (2010)

100. B. S. Oken, D. M. Storzbach, and J. A. Kaye: The efficacy of Ginkgo biloba on cognitive function in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* 55, (11) 1409-15 (1998)

101. P. L. Le Bars, M. Kieser, and K. Z. Itil: A 26-week analysis of a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of the ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 in dementia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 11, (4) 230-7 (2000)

102. P. L. Le Bars, M. M. Katz, N. Berman, T. M. Itil, A. M. Freedman, and A. F. Schatzberg: A placebocontrolled, double-blind, randomized trial of an extract of Ginkgo biloba for dementia. North American EGb Study Group. *Jama* 278, (16) 1327-32 (1997)

103. J. A. Mix and W. D. Crews, Jr.: A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial of Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 in a sample of cognitively intact older adults: neuropsychological findings. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 17, (6) 267-77 (2002)

104. S. Kanowski and R. Hoerr: Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 in dementia: intent-to-treat analyses of a 24-week, multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 36, (6) 297-303 (2003)

105. B. E. Snitz, E. S. O'Meara, M. C. Carlson, A. M. Arnold, D. G. Ives, S. R. Rapp, J. Saxton, O. L. Lopez, L. O. Dunn, K. M. Sink, and S. T. DeKosky: Ginkgo biloba for preventing cognitive decline in older adults: a randomized trial. *Jama* 302, (24) 2663-70 (2009)

106. S. T. DeKosky, J. D. Williamson, A. L. Fitzpatrick, R. A. Kronmal, D. G. Ives, J. A. Saxton, O. L. Lopez, G. Burke, M. C. Carlson, L. P. Fried, L. H. Kuller, J. A. Robbins, R. P. Tracy, N. F. Woolard, L. Dunn, B. E. Snitz, R. L. Nahin, and C. D. Furberg: Ginkgo biloba for prevention of dementia: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama* 300, (19) 2253-62 (2008)

107. R. Li and Y. Shen: Estrogen and brain: synthesis, function and diseases. *Front Biosci* 10, 257-67 (2005)

108. C. Behl, T. Skutella, F. Lezoualc'h, A. Post, M. Widmann, C. J. Newton, and F. Holsboer: Neuroprotection against oxidative stress by estrogens: structure-activity relationship. *Mol Pharmacol* 51, (4) 535-41 (1997)

109. S. Gandy: Estrogen and neurodegeneration. *Neurochem Res* 28, (7) 1003-8 (2003)

110. R. F. Zec and M. A. Trivedi: The effects of estrogen replacement therapy on neuropsychological functioning in postmenopausal women with and without dementia: a critical and theoretical review. *Neuropsychol Rev* 12, (2) 65-109 (2002)

111. P. A. Murphy, E. Farmakalidis, and L. D. Johnson: Isoflavone content of soya-based laboratory animal diets. *Food Chem Toxicol* 20, (3) 315-7 (1982)

112. M. S. Kurzer and X. Xu: Dietary phytoestrogens. *Annu Rev Nutr* 17, 353-81 (1997)

113. Q. Guo, G. Rimbach, H. Moini, S. Weber, and L. Packer: ESR and cell culture studies on free radical-scavenging and antioxidant activities of isoflavonoids. *Toxicology* 179, (1-2) 171-80 (2002)

114. W. H. Chan and J. S. Yu: Inhibition of UV irradiationinduced oxidative stress and apoptotic biochemical changes in human epidermal carcinoma A431 cells by genistein. *J Cell Biochem* 78, (1) 73-84 (2000)

115. T. Ohigashi, M. Ueno, S. Nonaka, T. Nakanoma, Y. Furukawa, N. Deguchi, and M. Murai: Tyrosine kinase inhibitors reduce bcl-2 expression and induce apoptosis in androgen-dependent cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 278, (1) C66-72 (2000)

116. H. Kim, H. Xia, L. Li, and J. Gewin: Attenuation of neurodegeneration-relevant modifications of brain proteins by dietary soy. *Biofactors* 12, (1-4) 243-50 (2000)

117. K. L. Johnson, F. Vaillant, and A. Lawen: Protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors prevent didemnin B-induced apoptosis in HL-60 cells. *FEBS Lett* 383, (1-2) 1-5 (1996)

118. T. B. Clarkson, M. S. Anthony, J. K. Williams, E. K. Honore, and J. M. Cline: The potential of soybean phytoestrogens for postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 217, (3) 365-8 (1998)

119. C. A. Lamartiniere, J. X. Zhang, and M. S. Cotroneo: Genistein studies in rats: potential for breast cancer prevention and reproductive and developmental toxicity. *Am J Clin Nutr* 68, (6 Suppl) 1400S-1405S (1998)

120. J. M. Andersen, O. Myhre, and F. Fonnum: Discussion of the role of the extracellular signal-regulated kinasephospholipase A2 pathway in production of reactive oxygen species in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem Res* 28, (2) 319-26 (2003)

121. S. L. Valles, C. Borras, J. Gambini, J. Furriol, A. Ortega, J. Sastre, F. V. Pallardo, and J. Vina: Oestradiol or genistein rescues neurons from amyloid beta-induced cell death by inhibiting activation of p38. *Aging Cell* 7, (1) 112-8 (2008)

122. H. Zeng, Q. Chen, and B. Zhao: Genistein ameliorates beta-amyloid peptide (25-35)-induced hippocampal neuronal apoptosis. *Free Radic Biol Med* 36, (2) 180-8 (2004)

123. J. A. Hartigan and G. V. Johnson: Transient increases in intracellular calcium result in prolonged site-selective increases in Tau phosphorylation through a glycogen synthase kinase 3beta-dependent pathway. *J Biol Chem* 274, (30) 21395-401 (1999) 124. A. Gutierrez-Zepeda, R. Santell, Z. Wu, M. Brown, Y. Wu, I. Khan, C. D. Link, B. Zhao, and Y. Luo: Soy isoflavone glycitein protects against beta amyloid-induced toxicity and oxidative stress in transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans. *BMC Neurosci* 6, 54 (2005)

125. L. Zhao and R. D. Brinton: WHI and WHIMS followup and human studies of soy isoflavones on cognition. *Expert Rev Neurother* 7, (11) 1549-64 (2007)

126. S. A. Kaiser and S. Wonnacott, Nicotic receptor modulation of neurotransmitter release, in Neuronal nicotinic receptors: pharmacology and therapeutic opportunities. S. P. Arneric and J. D. Brioni, Editors Wiley-Liss Inc, New York (1999)

127. Q. Liu, Y. Tao, and B. Zhao: ESR study on scavenging effect of nicotine on free radicals. *Applied Magnetic Resonance* 24, (1) 105-112 (2003)

128. Q. Liu and B. Zhao: Nicotine attenuates beta-amyloid peptide-induced neurotoxicity, free radical and calcium accumulation in hippocampal neuronal cultures. *Br J Pharmacol* 141, (4) 746-54 (2004)

129. Y. X. Xie, E. Bezard, and B. L. Zhao: Investigating the receptor-independent neuroprotective mechanisms of nicotine in mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 280, (37) 32405-12 (2005)

130. A. Nordberg, E. Hellstrom-Lindahl, M. Lee, M. Johnson, M. Mousavi, R. Hall, E. Perry, I. Bednar, and J. Court: Chronic nicotine treatment reduces beta-amyloidosis in the brain of a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease (APPsw). *J Neurochem* 81, (3) 655-8 (2002)

131. E. Hellstrom-Lindahl, H. Moore, and A. Nordberg: Increased levels of tau protein in SH-SY5Y cells after treatment with cholinesterase inhibitors and nicotinic agonists. *J Neurochem* 74, (2) 777-84 (2000)

132. Q. Liu, J. Zhang, H. Zhu, C. Qin, Q. Chen, and B. Zhao: Dissecting the signaling pathway of nicotinemediated neuroprotection in a mouse Alzheimer disease model. *Faseb J* 21, (1) 61-73 (2007)

133. M. A. Lovell, J. D. Robertson, W. J. Teesdale, J. L. Campbell, and W. R. Markesbery: Copper, iron and zinc in Alzheimer's disease senile plaques. *J Neurol Sci* 158, (1) 47-52 (1998)

134. D. Strausak, J. F. Mercer, H. H. Dieter, W. Stremmel, and G. Multhaup: Copper in disorders with neurological symptoms: Alzheimer's, Menkes, and Wilson diseases. *Brain Res Bull* 55, (2) 175-85 (2001)

135. C. S. Atwood, R. D. Moir, X. Huang, R. C. Scarpa, N. M. Bacarra, D. M. Romano, M. A. Hartshorn, R. E. Tanzi, and A. I. Bush: Dramatic aggregation of Alzheimer abeta by Cu (II) is induced by conditions representing physiological acidosis. *J Biol Chem* 273, (21) 12817-26 (1998)

136. L. Hesse, D. Beher, C. L. Masters, and G. Multhaup: The beta A4 amyloid precursor protein binding to copper. *FEBS Lett* 349, (1) 109-16 (1994)

137. A. I. Bush: Metal complexing agents as therapies for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 23, (6) 1031-8 (2002)

138. A. I. Bush, W. H. Pettingell, G. Multhaup, M. d Paradis, J. P. Vonsattel, J. F. Gusella, K. Beyreuther, C. L. Masters, and R. E. Tanzi: Rapid induction of Alzheimer A beta amyloid formation by zinc. *Science* 265, (5177) 1464-7 (1994)

139. J. Zhang, Q. Liu, Q. Chen, N. Q. Liu, F. L. Li, Z. B. Lu, C. Qin, H. Zhu, Y. Y. Huang, W. He and B. L. Zhao: Nicotine attenuates beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity by regulating metal homeostasis. *Faseb J* 20, (8) 1212-4 (2006)

140. M. Srivareerat, T. T. Tran, S. Salim, A. M. Aleisa and Alkadhi, K. A: Chronic nicotine restores normal Abeta levels and prevents short-term memory and E-LTP impairment in Abeta rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* (Epub ahead of print, 2009 May 20)

141. A. Finger, S. Kuhr, and U. H. Engelhardt: Chromatography of tea constituents. *J Chromatogr* 624, (1-2) 293-315 (1992)

142. J. Bryan: Psychological effects of dietary components of tea: caffeine and L-theanine. *Nutr Rev* 66, (2) 82-90 (2008)

143. T. Kakuda, A. Nozawa, A. Sugimoto, and H. Niino: Inhibition by theanine of binding of (3H)AMPA, (3H)kainate, and (3H)MDL 105,519 to glutamate receptors. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 66, (12) 2683-6 (2002)

144. S. Lesne, C. Ali, C. Gabriel, N. Croci, E. T. MacKenzie, C. G. Glabe, M. Plotkine, C. Marchand-Verrecchia, D. Vivien, and A. Buisson: NMDA receptor activation inhibits alpha-secretase and promotes neuronal amyloid-beta production. *J Neurosci* 25, (41) 9367-77 (2005)

145. K. Parameshwaran, M. Dhanasekaran, and V. Suppiramaniam: Amyloid beta peptides and glutamatergic synaptic dysregulation. *Exp Neurol* 210, (1) 7-13 (2008)

146. X. Di, J. Yan, Y. Zhao, J. Zhang, Z. Shi, Y. Chang, and B. Zhao: L-theanine protects the APP (Swedish mutation) transgenic SH-SY5Y cell against glutamateinduced excitotoxicity via inhibition of the NMDA receptor pathway. *Neuroscience* 168, (3) 778-86 (2010)

147. M. R. Hynd, H. L. Scott, and P. R. Dodd: Glutamatemediated excitotoxicity and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem Int* 45, (5) 583-95 (2004)

148. T. I. Kim, Y. K. Lee, S. G. Park, I. S. Choi, J. O. Ban, H. K. Park, S. Y. Nam, Y. W. Yun, S. B. Han, K. W. Oh and J. T. Hong: I-Theanine, an amino acid in green tea, attenuates beta-amyloid-induced cognitive dysfunction and neurotoxicity: reduction in oxidative damage and inactivation of ERK/p38 kinase and NF-kappaB pathways. *Free Radic Biol Med* 47, 1601-1610 (2009)

149. J. Zhang, A. Mori, Q. Chen, and B. Zhao: Fermented papaya preparation attenuates beta-amyloid precursor protein: beta-amyloid-mediated copper neurotoxicity in beta-amyloid precursor protein and beta-amyloid precursor protein Swedish mutation overexpressing SH-SY5Y cells. *Neuroscience* 143, (1) 63-72 (2006)

150. Y. H. Wang and G. H. Du: Ginsenoside Rg1 inhibits beta-secretase activity *in vitro* and protects against Abeta-induced cytotoxicity in PC12 cells. *J Asian Nat Prod Res* 11, (7) 604-12 (2009)

151. D. Butterfield, A. Castegna, C. Pocernich, J. Drake, G. Scapagnini, and V. Calabrese: Nutritional approaches to combat oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. *J Nutr Biochem* 13, (8) 444 (2002)

152. G. M. Cole, B. Teter, and S. A. Frautschy: Neuroprotective effects of curcumin. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 595, 197-212 (2007)

153. K. Bala, B. C. Tripathy, and D. Sharma: Neuroprotective and anti-ageing effects of curcumin in aged rat brain regions. *Biogerontology* 7, (2) 81-9 (2006)

154. S. A. Mandel, T. Amit, L. Kalfon, L. Reznichenko, and M. B. Youdim: Targeting multiple neurodegenerative diseases etiologies with multimodal-acting green tea catechins. *J Nutr* 138, (8) 1578S-1583S (2008)

155. K. Rezai-Zadeh, D. Shytle, N. Sun, T. Mori, H. Hou, D. Jeanniton, J. Ehrhart, K. Townsend, J. Zeng, D. Morgan, J. Hardy, T. Town, and J. Tan: Green tea epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) modulates amyloid precursor protein cleavage and reduces cerebral amyloidosis in Alzheimer transgenic mice. *J Neurosci* 25, (38) 8807-14 (2005)

156. B. Giunta, H. Hou, Y. Zhu, J. Salemi, A. Ruscin, R. D. Shytle, and J. Tan: Fish oil enhances anti-amyloidogenic properties of green tea EGCG in Tg2576 mice. *Neurosci Lett* 471, (3) 134-8 (2010)

157. L. A. Horrocks and A. A. Farooqui: Docosahexaenoic acid in the diet: its importance in maintenance and restoration of neural membrane function. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* 70, (4) 361-72 (2004)

158. M. C. Morris, D. A. Evans, J. L. Bienias, C. C. Tangney, D. A. Bennett, R. S. Wilson, N. Aggarwal, and J. Schneider: Consumption of fish and n-3 fatty acids and risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* 60, (7) 940-6 (2003)

159. E. J. Schaefer, V. Bongard, A. S. Beiser, S. Lamon-Fava, S. J. Robins, R. Au, K. L. Tucker, D. J. Kyle, P. W. Wilson, and P. A. Wolf: Plasma phosphatidylcholine docosahexaenoic acid content and risk of dementia and Alzheimer disease: the Framingham Heart Study. Arch Neurol 63, (11) 1545-50 (2006)

160. Y. Freund-Levi, M. Eriksdotter-Jonhagen, T. Cederholm, H. Basun, G. Faxen-Irving, A. Garlind, I. Vedin, B. Vessby, L. O. Wahlund, and J. Palmblad: Omega-3 fatty acid treatment in 174 patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer disease: OmegAD study: a randomized double-blind trial. *Arch Neurol* 63, (10) 1402-8 (2006)

161. K. N. Green, H. Martinez-Coria, H. Khashwji, E. B. Hall, K. A. Yurko-Mauro, L. Ellis, and F. M. LaFerla: Dietary docosahexaenoic acid and docosapentaenoic acid ameliorate amyloid-beta and tau pathology via a mechanism involving presenilin 1 levels. *J Neurosci* 27, (16) 4385-95 (2007)

162. F. Calon, G. P. Lim, T. Morihara, F. Yang, O. Ubeda, N. Salem, Jr., S. A. Frautschy, and G. M. Cole: Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid depletion activates caspases and decreases NMDA receptors in the brain of a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Neurosci* 22, (3) 617-26 (2005)

163. G. P. Lim, F. Calon, T. Morihara, F. Yang, B. Teter, O. Ubeda, N. Salem, Jr., S. A. Frautschy, and G. M. Cole: A diet enriched with the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid reduces amyloid burden in an aged Alzheimer mouse model. *J Neurosci* 25, (12) 3032-40 (2005)

164. F. Calon, G. P. Lim, F. Yang, T. Morihara, B. Teter, O. Ubeda, P. Rostaing, A. Triller, N. Salem, Jr., K. H. Ashe, S. A. Frautschy, and G. M. Cole: Docosahexaenoic acid protects from dendritic pathology in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Neuron* 43, (5) 633-45 (2004)

165. G. A. Jicha and W. R. Markesbery: Omega-3 fatty acids: potential role in the management of early Alzheimer's disease. *Clin Interv Aging* 5, 45-61 (2010)

166. W. J. Lukiw and N. G. Bazan: Docosahexaenoic acid and the aging brain. *J Nutr* 138, (12) 2510-4 (2008)

167. W. J. Lukiw, J. G. Cui, V. L. Marcheselli, M. Bodker, A. Botkjaer, K. Gotlinger, C. N. Serhan, and N. G. Bazan: A role for docosahexaenoic acid-derived neuroprotectin D1 in neural cell survival and Alzheimer disease. *J Clin Invest* 115, (10) 2774-83 (2005)

168. M. S. Hossain, M. Hashimoto, S. Gamoh, and S. Masumura: Antioxidative effects of docosahexaenoic acid in the cerebrum versus cerebellum and brainstem of aged hypercholesterolemic rats. *J Neurochem* 72, (3) 1133-8 (1999)

169. W. Komatsu, K. Ishihara, M. Murata, H. Saito, and K. Shinohara: Docosahexaenoic acid suppresses nitric oxide production and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in interferon-gamma plus lipopolysaccharide-stimulated

murine macrophages by inhibiting the oxidative stress. *Free Radic Biol Med* 34, (8) 1006-16 (2003)

Abbreviations: Alzheimer's disease: AD, neurofibrillary tangles: NFT, beta-amyloid peptide: Abeta, amyloid precursor protein: APP, presenilin: PS, nicastrin: NCT, anterior pharynx defective-1: APH-1, presenilin enhancer protein-2: PEN-2, paired helical filaments: PHFs, glycogen synthase kinase-3beta: GSK-3 beta, mitogen-activated protein kinase: MAPK, reactive oxygen species: ROS, reactive nitrogen species: RNS, 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine: 8OHdG, malondialdehyde: MDA, cerebrospinal fluid: CSF, mild cognitive impairment: MCI, superoxide dismutase: SOD, N-methyl-d-aspartate: NMDA, uncoupling proteins: UCPs, *c-jun* N-terminal kinase: JNK.

Key Words: Oxidative stress, Natural antioxidants, Neurodegenerative diseases, Alzheimer's disease, Free radicals, Review

Send correspondence to: Baolu Zhao, State Key Laboratory of Brain and Cognitive Science, Institute of Biophysics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, 15 Datun Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, 100101, P.R. China, Tel: 861064888569, Fax: 861064871293, E-mail: zhaobl@sun5.ibp.ac.cn

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol4E.htm